
 

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES, STATE OF TENNESSEE REAL ESTATE ASSET 
MANAGEMENT 

DESIGNER 
REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS (“DRFQ”) 
AMENDMENT THREE 
FOR THE PROJECT TITLED:  
Exhibit Designer - New Tennessee State Museum 
SBC #529/050-01-2015 

DATE: September 11, 2015 
1. This RFQ Schedule of Events updates and confirms scheduled RFQ dates.   

EVENT 
 

TIME  
(central time 

zone) 

DATE 
(all dates are state 

business days) 

Updated/Confirmed 
 

1. DRFQ Issued  August 25, 2015 Confirmed 
2. Disability Accommodation 

Request Deadline  August 26, 2015 Confirmed 

3. Pre-Response Conference 2:00 p.m. September 2, 2015 Confirmed 
4. State response to 1st set of 

written “Questions & 
Comments” 

 September 3, 2015 Confirmed 

5. Notice of Intent to Respond 
Deadline  September 3, 2015 Confirmed 

6. State response to 2nd set of 
written “Questions & 
Comments” 

 September 8, 2015 Confirmed 

7. Written “Questions & 
Comments” Deadline 2:00 p.m. September 8, 2015 Confirmed 

8. State response to 3rd set of 
written “Questions & 
Comments” 

 September 11, 2015 Confirmed 

9. RFQ Technical Response 
Deadline  2:00 p.m. September 17, 2015 Confirmed 

10. State Completion of Technical 
Submittal Evaluations  September 24, 2015 Confirmed 

11. State Issues Notice of Short-
Listed Respondents  September 25, 2015 Confirmed 

12. Interviews with Short-Listed 
Respondents  

October 5 & October 6, 
2015 Confirmed 

13. Fee Proposal Deadline 2:00 p.m. October 9, 2015 Confirmed 
14. State Issues Notice of Intent to 

Negotiate and Commences 
Negotiations 

 October 12, 2015 Confirmed 

15. Executive Subcommittee 
Approval Sought  October 19,2015 Confirmed 

16. Contract Award  October 30, 2015 Confirmed 
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2. State responses to questions and comments in the table below to amend and clarify this DRFQ. 
Any restatement of DRFQ text in the Question/Comment column shall NOT be construed as a change in 
the actual wording of the DRFQ document.  

QUESTION / COMMENT OWNER’S RESPONSE 

1  To confirm - When will a media producer be 
brought on in the process? If a firm is bidding on 
the exhibition design, are they precluded from 
bidding on the media production? 

Media producer would need to choose whether to design or 
produce. 
 
A/V Hardware Systems & Integration scope will be with 
Exhibit Fabricator. A/V Media Software Creative scope will 
be by Exhibit Designer 

2  Contract Attachment A notes that Exhibit 
Designer shall provide "still and moving image 
identification and procurement (including 
copyright and licensing cost which will be 
itemized for the fabrication budget). We wanted 
to confirm that the sourcing of materials for all 
media programs is also included in this line item. 

All items will be identified and sourced by the Exhibition 
Designer as part of the Content Development Task. In 
addition the Exhibition Designer must identify copyright 
and licensing costs. The Exhibition Fabricator will then be 
responsible for procuring all those items (paying for them) 
as part of the exhibition budget. If items are rights free or 
do not cost anything (e.g. owned by the Museum) or are 
illustrations produced by the Exhibition Designer, these will 
be procured by the Exhibition Designer. The State wants to 
ensure that assets that need to be purchased and licensed 
are covered under the exhibition fabrication budget. 

3  Section C.7 asks - "What strategies would you 
employ to the exhibits you design in Phase I that 
can/should seamlessly integrate with a future 
Phase II of the project which would increase the 
exhibition space?" To confirm - Is Phase I the 
Phase that we are bidding on, with Phase II being 
future exhibitions and temporary exhibitions? 

Yes. Phase I is what all proponents are bidding on. There is 
potential for a future expansion of the Museum identified 
as Phase II which would include (in addition to other public 
and non-public spaces) additional exhibition spaces. As 
such, this question attempts to discern the proponent’s 
strategies/experience dealing with projects where future 
exhibition space would be available to tell a larger story. 

4  Is there a schedule outlining the phase durations 
available? Is there a current architectural 
schedule available? 

The schedule is for the Museum to be open by June 2018. 
Successful designer will participate with the PMaA to 
develop specific milestones to coordinate with the work of 
all other contracts. 

5  How much curatorial work has been done to 
date?  

The research required to develop the preliminary 
interpretive plan has been completed to date. The bulk of 
the curatorial work will be completed as part of this 
process. 

6  There is a short amount of time between the 
Interview and the Fee Proposal Deadline - could 
the schedule of payments expected be provided 
prior to the interview?  

The Schedule of Payments will be provided at the interview. 

7  It was confirmed in the call that media producers 
will be contracted under the fabricator. At what 
point the producers will be selected, and, will the 
Exhibition Designer as well as the Fabricator have 
input in their selection? 

It is anticipated that the Exhibition Fabricator and all sub-
trades including media producers will be contracted by 
December of this year. It is anticipated that that the 
Exhibition Designer, would participate in the selection 
process. 

8  Are base building consultants allowed to work on 
the exhibits project?  

Yes, but the competitive process will be subject to SBC 
Policy 12.02 and the OSA Organizational Conflicts of 
Interest Policy. 

9  Should issues or exceptions related to the 
contract be included in the response to the RFP? 

The contract is non-negotiable. 
 

10  Is it possible to obtain a data base of certified 
business Tennessee enterprises that fall within 
this category or ones that have done business 

A list of currently certified contractors can be download at 
the following website:  
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QUESTION / COMMENT OWNER’S RESPONSE 
with the Tennessee State Museum? http://www.tn.gov/generalservices/article/godbe-

enterprise-directory 
 
Please contact Christopher Cooper should you have any 
questions regarding the database. 

11  Is it possible for you to provide the anticipated 
architectural schedule and provide the 
anticipated hand-over date for the building? 

See response to question #4 above. 

12  Contract E.8: Can CAD converted to and from 
BIM be acceptable in lieu of BIM? 

OSA BIM standards were developed for building design. It is 
preferred that all aspects of the project be developed in 
BIM for coordination and providing final documentation to 
the State. It is understood that some aspects of the BIM 
standards may not be applicable to the exhibit designer. 

13  Contract E.9: Artifact database. Will the Museum 
provide an illustrated and dimensioned artifact 
database to the successful bidder? 

The Museum has the Argus.net system is up and running. 
It's running on the state's servers on an address that's 
currently only accessible from within the state's network. 
Approximately 53% of the 109,488 objects have images 
linked to Argus. It is anticipated that the selected Exhibition 
Designer will be given access to database.” 

14  Can you disclose the exhibit budget for this 
project?  

The budget for exhibit design is $27.2 million 

15  Since there are variances between the size of the 
building described in the Interpretive Plan vs. the 
Functional Program, will the Museum be 
providing an Interpretive Plan that reflects the 
smaller size of the exhibits? Alternatively, is this 
the work of the exhibits team?  

Yes. A revised preliminary interpretive strategy will be 
provided to the proponent that reflects the smaller size of 
exhibits. The Exhibition Designer will then be required to 
develop the interpretive plan in more detail as per the 
Scope of Work.  

16  Contract Attachment A 4.b reads "Still and 
moving image identification and procurement 
(including copyright and licensing cost which will 
be itemized for the fabrication budget).  
Could you please clarify this statement 
further?  Will these procurement expenses be 
paid for through the fabricator budget, and will 
the fabricator also prepare and complete all 
necessary documentation and agreements?  We 
were a bit unclear based on some comments 
made during the Pre-Response Conference. 

Yes. Procurement expenses will be paid for out of the 
fabricator budget. The Exhibition Designer must source and 
identify all these assets for ease of procurement and to 
manage that process. Preparation of documentation 
assigning rights to the Owner would be responsibility of the 
Exhibition Designer, but all payments and invoices would be 
made by the Exhibition Fabricator” 

17  Amendment Two, Question / Comment #4 
States: 
Q: Within the 50-page limit, can the pages be 
double-sided?  
A: Yes, the pages can be double-sided as long as 
the total number of pages does not exceed 50, 
including pages with photos, dividers, charts, 
spreadsheets, and appendices. PDF file size not 
to exceed 8mb.  
 
To confirm, does "pages" refer to sheets of 
paper, or, sides of paper with information? For 
example, can the response be 50 sheets of paper 
in total, with up to 100 sides of paper that 

There should be 50 numbered pages. If you wish to print 
double-sided, that would be 25 sheets of paper.  

Page 3 of 5 
 

http://www.tn.gov/generalservices/article/godbe-enterprise-directory
http://www.tn.gov/generalservices/article/godbe-enterprise-directory


QUESTION / COMMENT OWNER’S RESPONSE 
contain information? Or, must there only be 50 
total pages that contain information? 

18  Can you clarify if the cover page and cover letter 
count as pages within the 50-page limit? 

The cover page and a single page cover letter, will not count 
toward the 50 page limit. 

19  Regarding project total value requested in 
Section B.2 of the RFP, does the total 10M value 
include exhibit costs only, or does the total value 
also include architecture? 

The total values are for exhibition costs only not 
architecture.  

20  Will the Museum provide content writing and 
research or is this task the responsibility of the 
chosen firm? 

As identified in the Scope of Work, the Exhibition Designer 
will be responsible for writing and editing all text, labels 
and scripts in the Museum. The Exhibition Designer will 
work with the Museum Working Group to ensure 
authenticity, share in the research, etc. The purpose is to 
ensure a well edited “textual” experience that appeals to 
audiences and provides one compelling voice for visitors to 
enjoy. 

21  Regarding Attachment D in the RFP, can you 
verify where we are to include the attachment? 
(Is this to be included at the end of the proposal, 
if at all?)  

Please include attachment D at the end of your technical 
submittal. 

22  Can you clarify if all provided forms/attachments 
are to be part of the 50-page limit? (There is a 
note that page numbers are to be included on 
the attachments for ease of navigation.)  

All attachments should be included within the technical 
submittal, but will not count toward your 50 page limit. 

23  Regarding Sections B.1 and B.3 of the RFP, it is 
stated that two separate organizational charts 
are required. Please clarify that the 
organizational chart in B.1 requires both internal 
and external team members and that the chart in 
B.3 is solely internal staff reporting structure. 

B.1 will ascertain your complete team – main exhibition 
design firm and key sub-consultants/firms that will form a 
part of your team to deliver the scope of work. The 
Organizational chart should identify all the key firms and 
how they will report to the Lead. This is not a staffing chart. 
 
B.3 refers specifically to the key personnel/staff who will 
deliver the project which will include both internal and 
external staff.  

24  Regarding Section C.1, please clarify the 
following statement: “(Attachment A of the Pro 
Forma Contract which is included with this RFQ 
as Attachment H) i.e. approach and 
methodology”. Please explain the difference 
between Attachment A and Attachment H and 
whether only Attachment H is required for this 
proposal.  

Attachment H (Pro Forma Contract) is an attachment to the 
Designer RFQ and Contract Attachment A (Exhibit Designer 
Scope of Services and Deliverables) is part of the Pro Forma 
Contract. 
 
Submitting firms are to provide an approach and 
methodology to demonstrate how your team will deliver 
the tasks identified in Contract Attachment A. 

25  Can you clarify whether we are obligated to 
meet all insurance requirements at the time of 
the RFP submittal or are firms able to purchase 
additional coverage if contract is awarded? 

The proposer is required to provide proof that they can 
obtain and maintain the insurance requirements at the time 
of contract execution and during the duration of the 
project, including the warranty period. 

26  Regarding Section A.7 of the RFP, the stipulated 
numbers do not appear to match the numbers in 

The PLI limits of $2m/$4m stated in A.7 are correct. 
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QUESTION / COMMENT OWNER’S RESPONSE 
Section E.6.B of the Contract Example. Please 
clarify which numbers are correct. 

27  Regarding Section A.7 of the RFP, can you clarify 
whether the Certificate will count against the 50-
page limit?  

The Certificate of Insurance as requested in A.7 will count 
toward the 50 page limit. 

28  Business License: If a firm has submitted their 
on-line application for a Tennessee business 
license, can you confirm that the control number 
is sufficient for the RFP purposes?  It appears 
that the filing process requires additional steps 
that may take additional time of 60-90 days to 
process through the Secretary of State's office.  

Yes a number will suffice for submission of bid, but contract 
can only be executed upon completion of business license 
process.  
 

29  It was stipulated at the pre-bid meeting that the 
firm handling the AV/Media design is precluded 
from bidding on the production phase. Is there a 
possibility that the State would reconsider this 
stipulation?  

See response to question #1. 
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